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i 

CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

Amici curiae California Advocates for Nursing Home Reform and 

California Continuing Care Residents Association, Inc. have no parent 

corporations.  They have no stock, so no publicly held company owns 10 

percent or more of their stock. 
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INTEREST OF AMICI CURIAE1 

Amicus curiae California Advocates for Nursing Home Reform 

(“CANHR”) is a non-profit organization dedicated to improving the 

choices, care, and quality of life for California’s growing elderly 

population.  Through direct advocacy, community education, and litigation, 

CANHR supports and educates seniors about their rights and remedies 

under the law.  CANHR also sponsors legislation to protect residents of 

assisted living and continuing care retirement communities (“CCRCs”).  

Such individuals constitute a large and growing number of the individuals 

CANHR represents.   

Amicus curiae California Continuing Care Residents Association, 

Inc. (“CALCRA”) is a non-profit organization dedicated to representing 

California seniors who live in CCRCs.  CALCRA’s mission is to ensure the 

quality of life and financial security of CCRC residents throughout the 

state.  CALCRA is the voice of CCRC residents before the providers who 

own and manage CCRCs, the state legislature, and government oversight 

agencies.  Since 1995, CALCRA has supported and been involved in the 

drafting and passage of over 20 pieces of legislation dedicated to enhancing 

                                           
1 No counsel of any party to this proceeding authored any part of this brief.  
No party or party’s counsel, nor any person other than amici and their 
members, contributed money to the preparation or submission of this brief. 
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vii 

and defending residents’ rights, including the legislation at issue on this 

appeal.  

CANHR and CALCR have a unique perspective on the law and 

context at issue.  Their amicus brief presents the perspective of tens of 

thousands of people impacted by the decision at issue and examines the 

broader standing implications raised by the appeal.   
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INTRODUCTION 

California has more than 8,000,000 citizens over the age of 60.  A 

growing number of these vulnerable individuals live, or will live, in 

continuing care retirement communities (“CCRCs”).  This case concerns 

the rights of those residents to enforce a California law that requires 

CCRCs to maintain a funding reserve to ensure that CCRCs can repay 

money that they hold in trust for their residents. 

Residents secure their admission to CCRCs by paying large entrance 

fees – over $460 million at Appellees’ facility – in exchange for life-long 

care.  In many instances, these payments are refundable.  To protect such 

funds, California law requires CCRCs to maintain a “refund reserve” trust 

account with a statutorily-defined minimum amount of money.  Cal. Health 

& Saf. Code § 1792.6(a). 

Appellees violated § 1792.6 by “upstreaming” hundreds of millions 

of dollars in resident deposits to a corporate affiliate and leaving the entity 

that the residents contracted with on the precipice of insolvency.  The 

district court held that the residents did not suffer a justiciable injury and 

could not do so until such time as Appellees were unable to make refund 

payments as they became due.  The court’s ruling provides that contrary to 

the purpose of the law and this Court’s precedents, CCRC residents are 
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deprived of the peace of mind they bargained for and cannot protect their 

life savings until it is too late.   

The ruling below means that operating a Ponzi scheme would not 

cause a justiciable injury until the victims could no longer recover.  It 

would endanger ERISA funds, which also are subject to minimum-funding 

requirements for similar reasons.  And it is especially deleterious in the 

context of CCRCs, where residents often fund their entrance fees by selling 

their homes and contributing any savings they may have to plan for their 

care for the rest of their lives. 

Amici curiae California Advocates for Nursing Home Reform 

(“CANHR”) and California Continuing Care Residents Association, Inc. 

(“CALCRA”) are non-profits that seek to protect seniors.  Amici have a 

strong interest in ensuring that Article III is not interpreted to procedurally 

deny the individuals Amici represent standing to sue to enforce their 

substantive, statutory right to financial security.  Appellants, and all CCRC 

residents, have suffered an injury-in-fact and have standing to sue when a 

facility violates § 1792.6.   

First, the plain language of the statute shows that § 1792.6(a) creates 

a substantive right to live in a community that has a reserve account that 

can pay refunds.  Because a CCRC violates its residents’ substantive right 
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by failing to comply with § 1792.6, residents have standing to enforce their 

substantive right without needing to show any other harm.  Eichenberger v. 

ESPN, Inc., 876 F.3d 979, 983-84 (9th Cir. 2017); Van Patten v. Vertical 

Fitness Grp., LLC, 847 F.3d 1037, 1043 (9th Cir. 2017). 

Second, when a CCRC violates § 1792.6, that materially increases 

the risk that it will default on its refund obligations to its residents.  That is 

an injury-in-fact.  Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1550 (2016) 

(Spokeo I).   

Third, violating § 1792.6 causes residents stress, anxiety, and 

uncertainty about their long-term care and financial future – precisely what 

they sought to avoid by entering a CCRC.  That too is an injury-in-fact.  

Robins v. Spokeo, 867 F.3d 1108, 1117 (9th Cir. 2017) (Spokeo II).   

For each of these reasons, the Court should reverse the district 

court’s dismissal and allow the claims to proceed. 

BACKGROUND 

A. Continuing Care Retirement Communities 

CCRCs offer senior citizens the opportunity to live somewhere that 

can care for them for the rest of their lives.  CANHR, Continuing Care 

Retirement Communities in California 1-2 (2009), 

http://www.canhr.org/publications/PDFs /CCRCGuide.pdf.  CCRCs 
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include the full range of long-term-care options in a single setting, from 

independent living to assisted living to skilled-nursing care.  Id.  “The key 

feature of the continuing care contract is the promise to provide services 

and care, usually, for life.”  Id. at 1. 

The main attractions of living in a CCRC are “peace of mind” and a 

“sense of security.”  Id. at 2.  Residents know that their plans for long-term 

care are in place; that they will not have to undergo the “guesswork and 

hassle of arranging for future care needs”; and that they will not have to 

move homes as their needs increase.  Id.  They know that they will not 

become a burden on friends and family as they age.  Id.; see also National 

Continuing Care Residents Association (NaCCRA), Consumer’s Guide to 

Continuing Care Retirement Communities 4 (2018), 

https://www.calcra.org/s/Consumers-Guide-to-CCRCs-NaCCRA.pdf. 

That peace of mind and sense of security come at a price:  residents 

must pay both an up-front entrance fee and an ongoing monthly fee.  

CANHR, supra, at 4.  The entrance fee is usually set at or above the 

median house price in the area—anywhere from $100,000 to over $1 

million.  Residents often finance the cost by selling their home and other 

retirement investments.  Id.  The monthly fees are also substantial: they 
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start at $3,000 to $6,000 for independent-living units and go up to over 

$10,000 for higher levels of care.  Id. at 4-5.   

Continuing-care contracts vary in how they allocate risk between the 

resident and the facility.  Id. at 7-8.  Some facilities truly guarantee care for 

the resident’s lifetime; others guarantee access to higher levels of care, but 

the resident must pay prevailing market rates to obtain the care.  Id. at 7.  

The tradeoff is that in the latter sort of facility, the entrance fees may be 

lower, and they may be partially refundable when the resident leaves the 

community.  Id. at 6-7; see also NaCCRA Consumer’s Guide, supra, at 5-6.   

B. California’s Protections for CCRC Residents 

Because moving into a CCRC can be the single biggest economic 

decision a senior citizen makes, California has enacted significant 

protections for residents.  See Cal. Health & Saf. Code § 1770(b) 

(recognizing the “tragic consequences [that] can result if a continuing care 

provider becomes insolvent or unable to provide responsible care”).  In 

particular: 

 Facilities that offer “refundable contract[s]” must “maintain a 

refund reserve in trust for the residents.”  § 1792.6(a).  Section 

1792.6(c) supplies a formula for the minimum amount of 

money a facility must hold in reserve.   
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 Section 1793(d) provides residents with the right to bring a 

civil action against a facility that “abandons . . . its obligations 

under a continuing care contract.”   

 And § 1775(e) provides that these provisions “shall be 

liberally construed for the protection of persons attempting to 

obtain or receiving continuing care.” 

C. The District Court’s Ruling on Standing 

Plaintiffs/Appellants Linda Cork, Georgia May, Thomas Merigan, 

and Janice Anderson all live at the Vi at Palo Alto, a CCRC owned and 

operated by CC-Palo Alto, Inc.  (19 ER 4862, 4866-69.)  Each paid 

between $633,200 and $1,856,400 in entrance fees to CC-Palo Alto.  (19 

ER 4867-70.)  Their residency contracts structure those payments as 

“loans,” and promise that the Vi will “refund” part of that money to 

Appellants or their estates either when their apartments are resold or 10 

years after they leave the Vi, whichever comes first.  (19 ER 4856-57, 

4873-74.)   

CC-Palo Alto is a subsidiary of CC-Development Group, Inc., which 

operates nine other retirement communities in the United States.  (19 ER 

4862.)  At the time the First Amended Complaint was filed, CC-Palo Alto 

owed its residents over $460 million, had transferred over $219 million 
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“upstream” to its corporate parent, and had an operating deficit of over 

$310 million.  (19 ER 4858-59.)  As a result, it repeatedly had to ask CC-

Development Group for “cash advances” when the refunds it was obligated 

to pay under its residency contracts came due.  (19 ER 4879.)  Although 

CC-Development Group has thus far advanced the necessary funds, it has 

repudiated in writing any obligation to continue to do so.  (19 ER 4855.)2 

The district court held that the Vi’s residency contract was a 

“refundable contract” and thus that CC-Palo Alto was required to maintain 

a refund reserve under California Health & Safety Code § 1792.6.  (1 ER 

51.)  CC-Palo Alto admits that it maintains no refund reserve.  (13 ER 

3395.)  Nevertheless, the court held that Plaintiffs had suffered no injury-

in-fact because CC-Palo Alto had not yet defaulted on any repayment 

obligation and “[a]t best, Plaintiffs’ allegations suggest that Defendants 

may be unable to meet [those] obligations in the future.”  (1 ER 51-55.) 

ARGUMENT 

An injury-in-fact is “an invasion of a legally protected interest” that 

causes “particularized,” “concrete,” and “actual or imminent” harm to the 

                                           
2 These allegations are in Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint, whose 
claims the district court dismissed with prejudice in its order of March 31, 
2016.  (1 ER 34, 67.)  In reviewing that order, this Court must accept 
Plaintiffs’ factual allegations as true.  Smith v. Pac. Properties & Dev. 
Corp., 358 F.3d 1097, 1099 (9th Cir. 2004). 
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plaintiff.  Spokeo I, 136 S. Ct. at 1547.  A CCRC’s failure to maintain a 

refund reserve meets all these requirements: 

 Legally protected interest:  Section 1792.6 protects residents’ 

interests in a CCRC’s continued solvency by requiring that it 

maintain a refund reserve.  By disobeying that requirement, a 

CCRC invades its residents’ legally protected interest. 

 Particularized harm:  A CCRC’s failure to follow § 1792.6 

causes particularized harm to each resident because each 

resident has a “personal and individual” interest in the refund 

of his or her entry fee.  See Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 

555, 560 n.1 (1992). 

 Concrete harm:  A CCRC’s failure to follow § 1792.6 causes 

concrete harm because (1) it is the invasion of a substantive 

right and (2) it materially increases the risk of a default and 

impairs residents’ peace of mind and sense of financial 

security.  See Eichenberger, 876 F.3d at 983-84 (when a 

plaintiff alleges infringement of a substantive right, no further 

injury is needed); Spokeo I, 136 S. Ct. at 1550 (invasions that 

“present a[] material risk of harm” are concrete); Spokeo II, 
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867 F.3d at 1117 (Spokeo II) (“anxiety, stress, concern, and/or 

worry” are concrete injuries). 

 Actual harm:  When a CCRC violates § 1792.6 residents 

suffer actual harm because “both the challenged conduct and 

the attendant injury have already occurred.”  Spokeo II, 867 

F.3d at 1118; see Van Patten, 847 F.3d at 1043.  Residents 

suffer the lack of a refund reserve, as well as the attendant 

increased risk and impaired peace of mind, now.  That a 

CCRC has not yet defaulted is irrelevant:  plaintiffs need not 

show that some “additional concrete harm” has materialized 

to have standing.  Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 1118. 

I. WHEN A CCRC VIOLATES § 1792.6, ITS RESIDENTS HAVE 
SUFFERED AN INJURY-IN-FACT 

Residents have an interest in a CCRC’s solvency and ability to make 

good on its refund obligations.  California law legally protects that interest 

by requiring that CCRCs maintain a sufficiently large refund reserve “in 

trust for the residents.”  Cal. Health & Saf. Code § 1792.6.  Appellees 

openly admit that they disobey that requirement.  (13 ER 3395.)  Thus, they 

have invaded Appellants’ legally protected interest. 
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A. Each Resident Suffers a Particularized Harm Based on the 
Entrance Fee He or She Personally Paid 

When a CCRC violates § 1792.6, it causes particularized harm to 

each resident it has contracted with to provide a refund.  A plaintiff suffers 

a particularized injury if he or she suffers harm that is not 

“undifferentiated.”  Spokeo I, 136 S. Ct. at 1548 n.7; United States v. 

Richardson, 418 U.S. 166, 177 (1974).  Thus, for example, an individual’s 

status as a federal taxpayer does not imbue him with standing to challenge 

allegedly unconstitutional federal expenditures, but each victim of a mass 

tort suffers a particularized injury and may sue for redress.  Richardson, 

418 U.S. at 176-77; Spokeo I, 136 S. Ct. at 1548 n.7. 

Each CCRC resident pays a separate entrance fee and, pursuant to 

his or her contract with the CCRC thus suffers a particularized injury when 

a CCRC violates § 1792.6.  For example, each of the Appellants paid CC-

Palo Alto a separate entrance fee:  Ms. Cork paid $674,400, Ms. May paid 

$633,200, Mr. Merigan paid $1,223,900, and Ms. Anderson paid 

$1,856,400.  (19 ER 4867-70.)  Each thus has a “personal and individual” 

interest in the refund of his or her entry fee.  See Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 

at 560 n.1, 572-73.  That is not an interest “common to all members of the 

public.”  Because each resident paid a separate fee and is entitled to a 

separate refund, each suffers a separate and individual injury from CC-Palo 
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Alto’s failure to maintain a refund reserve.  Cf. Richardson, 418 U.S. at 

170; Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 740 (1972).   

B. Failure to Maintain a Refund Reserve is a Concrete Harm 
Because It Invades a Resident’s Substantive Rights and 
Materially Increases a CCRC’s Risk of Default 

A CCRC’s failure to maintain a refund reserve has caused concrete 

and actual harm to its residents.  A “concrete” injury is one that “actually 

exist[s].”  Spokeo I, 136 S. Ct. at 1548.  It must be “real” and “not 

abstract,” but it need not be tangible.  Id. at 1548-49 (quotation marks 

omitted).  Legislatures are “well positioned” to identify real but intangible 

harms, and they may enact new rights to protect against such harms.  Id. at 

1543.  When the invasion of a legislatively created right causes “some 

real—as opposed to purely legal—harm to the plaintiff,” he will have 

suffered a concrete injury.  Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 1112. 

Legislatively created rights can be subdivided into “substantive” and 

“procedural” rights.  See Eichenberger, 876 F.3d at 983.  Procedural rights 

prescribe a procedure that the regulated party must follow.  Id.  The 

provision at issue in Spokeo was such a procedural right, for it required 

only that credit-reporting agencies “follow reasonable procedures” in 

assembling credit reports.  867 F.3d at 1114 (quoting 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681e(b)).  A plaintiff has standing to sue for a violation of a procedural 
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right only if the violation impaired some “separate concrete interest” of the 

plaintiff.  Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 572.   

Substantive rights, in contrast, protect the plaintiff against an injury 

directly.  See Eichenberger, 876 F.3d at 983; Van Patten, 847 F.3d at 1043.  

Thus, a right against unsolicited telemarketing phone calls and fax 

advertisements is a substantive right.  Van Patten, 847 F.3d at 1043.  So is a 

right against disclosure of one’s identity and video-viewing history, even 

though it might also protect against consequential harms like 

embarrassment and harassment.  Eichenberger, 876 F.3d at 983.  As shown 

below, the right to a reserve fund is a substantive right. 

1. Because the Refund-Reserve Requirement Is a 
Substantive Right, Residents Have Standing Without 
Any Further Harm 

In requiring that refund-paying CCRCs maintain a refund reserve, 

the California Legislature created a substantive right for residents.  The 

Legislature was clear about this.  Recognizing that “elderly residents often 

expend a significant portion of their savings” to buy into a CCRC and that 

“tragic consequences can result if a continuing care provider becomes 

insolvent or unable to provide responsible care,” the Legislature undertook 

to impose some “minimum requirements” on CCRCs.  Cal. Health & Saf. 

Code §§ 1770(b),(f).  One such requirement was that refund-paying 
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CCRCs must “maintain a refund reserve in trust for the residents.”  Id. 

§ 1792.6(a) (emphasis added).   

That is not a procedural requirement—it does not require that a 

CCRC follow some procedure before it dispenses with maintaining a 

refund reserve.  Rather, it substantively requires that a CCRC maintain, in a 

trust account established with an escrow agent, a specific amount of money, 

which may be invested only in certain types of assets.  Id.  §§ 1792.6(a)-

(c).  It further provides that money may be withdrawn from the trust 

account only to pay refunds or when the balance in the account exceeds the 

required amount.  Id. § 1792.6(d).  And it expressly provides that these 

requirements are imposed “for the residents.”  Id. § 1792.6(a).3  Thus, a 

resident suffers substantive harm when a CCRC flouts the refund-reserve 

requirement. 

                                           
3 Moreover, the statute provides that an injured resident may bring civil suit 
against “[a]n entity that abandons . . . its obligations under a continuing 
care contract” in “any court having proper jurisdiction.”  Id. § 1793.5(d).  
So not only did the Legislature create a right, it created a private right of 
action to enforce it.  The district court separately, and erroneously, held 
that the private right of action was limited to situations “where the entity 
has abdicated its responsibilities to the community in such an egregious 
manner that it rises to the level of criminal liability.”  (1 ER 55.)  The 
statute’s plain language, however, provides for misdemeanor (and civil) 
liability whenever an entity “abandons . . . its obligations under a 
continuing care contract.”  Id.  § 1793.5(d).   
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The harm caused by a CCRC’s violation of § 1792.6 finds firm 

parallels in harms that have “traditionally been regarded as providing a 

basis for a lawsuit in English or American courts.”  Spokeo I, 136 S. Ct. at 

1549.  Breaches of trust have long been actionable at common law.  

Restatement (Third) of Trusts § 100 (2007).  The beneficiary can bring suit 

to recover “the amount required to restore the value[] of the trust estate,” 

and if the trustee has breached the fiduciary duty of loyalty, the beneficiary 

can sue without showing harm to the beneficiary’s interest in the trust 

estate at all.  Id. §§ 100, 78 cmt. b.  It is also blackletter law that injunctive 

relief is an appropriate remedy in such cases.  See, e.g., id. §§ 93, 94(1) 

(explaining that a beneficiary may sue a trustee “to enjoin or redress a 

breach of trust,” which is “a failure by the trustee to comply with any duty 

that the trustee owes, as trustee, to the [trust’s] beneficiaries”). 

By specifying that the refund reserve is to be maintained “in trust for 

the residents,” the Legislature borrowed the common-law concepts bound 

up in the word “trust.”  See § 1792.6(a); People v. Newby, 167 Cal. App. 

4th 1341, 1346-47 (2008) (“[W]here the Legislature uses a term well-

understood by the common law, we must presume that the Legislature 
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intended the common law meaning.”).4  Thus, both history and the 

judgment of the Legislature show that a resident’s right to a refund reserve 

is a substantive right.  See Eichenberger, 876 F.3d at 983-84 (concluding 

that right under Video Privacy Protection Act was substantive right because 

of parallels with common-law privacy); Van Patten, 847 F.3d at 1043 

(similar).   

When the Legislature defines a substantive right, every violation 

presents the precise harm and infringes the same interests the Legislature 

sought to protect.  Eichenberger, 876 F.3d at 983-84; Van Patten, 847 F.3d 

at 1043.  In such a case, a plaintiff “need not allege any further harm to 

have standing.”  Id.   

2. Even if the Refund-Reserve Requirement Is a 
Procedural Right, It Protects Residents’ Concrete 
Interests, and Violating It Presents a Material Risk 
of Harm to Those Interests   

In evaluating whether the invasion of a legislatively created 

procedural right causes a concrete injury, this Court has articulated a two-

part test.  First, the Court asks “whether the statutory provisions at issue 

                                           
4 The district court held, without citation, that “[i]n order for Plaintiffs to 
have standing with respect to the entrance fees, a security interest must 
exist and Plaintiffs must have sufficiently alleged injury to that security 
interest.”  (1 ER 51.)  That proposition finds no support in the law of 
standing, trusts, or securities. 
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were established to protect [the plaintiff’s] concrete interests (as opposed to 

purely procedural rights).”  Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 1113.  If so, the Court 

then asks “whether the specific procedural violations alleged . . . actually 

harm, or present a material risk of harm to, such interests.”  Id. 

Here, as explained above, the California Legislature explicitly sought 

to protect “elderly residents” who “expend a significant portion of their 

savings” to gain entry to a CCRC from the “tragic consequences [that] can 

result if a continuing care provider becomes insolvent or unable to provide 

responsible care.”  Cal. Health & Saf. Code § 1770(b).  

Those consequences can be tragic.  Without a reserve account, 

refund-paying CCRCs become nothing more than Ponzi schemes, paying 

out earlier residents using funds deposited by more recent residents until 

the entire scheme collapses.  NaCCRA, supra, at 16.  And CCRCs do 

collapse.  Nationwide, there were some 20 CCRC bankruptcies between 

2001 and 2016, and there have been more since.5  A CCRC bankruptcy 

wreaks havoc on the community and inflicts residents with stress, anxiety, 

and uncertainty about their long-term care and financial future – precisely 

                                           
5 See John F. Wasik, The Everything-in-One Promise of a Continuing Care 
Community, N.Y. Times (Feb. 26, 2016), 
https://www.nytimes.com/2016/02/27/ your-money/the-everything-in-one-
promise-of-a-continuing-care-community.html.  
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the things they sought to avoid by entering a CCRC.6  And, like any Ponzi 

scheme, the last residents out lose their money.7  As in Spokeo II, the “real-

world implications” of failing to maintain a reserve account are “patent on 

their face.”  See 867 F.3d at 1114.   

There can be little doubt, from this, that the Legislature enacted the 

refund-reserve requirement to protect CCRC residents’ concrete interests.  

See § 1792.6(a); cf. Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 1113.  This is not some “purely 

procedural right[],” like a right to comment on some agency action or a 

right to ensure that agencies consult with each other before taking action.  

See Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 1113; Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 555 U.S. 

488, 496 (2009); Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 572.  Such rights are rights 

to procedure for the sake of procedure.  The refund-reserve requirement 

protects residents’ concrete interests in receiving the refunds to which they 

are entitled and in peace of mind about their financial future. 

                                           
6 See Mark Muckenfuss, Why residents are worried about sale of Altavita 
Village, a Riverside retirement community, Press-Enterprise (Sept. 17, 
2017), https://www.pe.com/2017/09/17/why-residents-are-worried-about-
sale-of-altavita-village-a-riverside-retirement-community/. 
7 See Greg Chandler, Mirador files for Chapter 11 as part of sale 
agreement, KRIS 6 News (Feb. 20, 2019), https://kristv.com/news/local-
news/2019/02/20/mirador-files-for-chapter-11-as-part-of-sale-agreement/. 
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As for the second part of the test, a CCRC’s failure to maintain a 

refund reserve “actually harm[s], [and] present[s] a material risk of harm 

to, such interests.”  Cf. Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 1113.  It actually harms 

Plaintiffs’ interest in peace of mind and sense of financial security, because 

they know that when they leave the CCRC, they or their estate will have to 

depend on the CCRC’s (or in this case, its affiliate’s) largesse to pay for the 

refund to which they are entitled.  (19 ER 4855 (disclaiming any obligation 

on CC-Development Group’s behalf to make such payments).)  Similar 

intangible harms sufficed in Spokeo II.  867 F.3d at 1117 (noting that 

Robins suffered from “anxiety, stress, concern, and/or worry about his 

diminished employment prospects” as a result of Spokeo’s conduct).  

Appellees’ failure to maintain a refund reserve also presents a material risk 

of harm to Appellants’ interest in receiving that refund, because without 

CC-Development Group’s largesse, CC-Palo Alto has no money with 

which to pay it.  (19 ER 4879.)8 

Because the refund-reserve requirement was established to protect 

residents’ concrete interests in peace of mind and receiving a refund, and 

                                           
8 CCRCs and other assisted living and skilled nursing facilities often 
employ byzantine corporate structures to evade liability and hide profits.  
See generally C. Harrington, L. Ross & T. Kang, Hidden Owners, Hidden 
Profits, and Poor Nursing Home Care: A Case Study, 45 Int’l J. Health 
Servs. 779 (2015).   
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because a CCRC’s failure to maintain a refund reserve actually harms or 

materially risks harming those interests, violation of § 1792.6 constitutes a 

concrete injury. 

C. When a CCRC Violates § 1792.6, Residents Have Suffered 
Actual Harm Because Both the Challenged Conduct and 
Attendant Injury Already Have Occurred 

Closely related to concreteness is the requirement that an injury be 

“actual or imminent.”  Spokeo I, 136 S. Ct. at 1548 (quoting Defs. of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 560).  An injury is actual or imminent if it has 

“already occurred” or is “certainly impending.”  Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 

1118; Clapper v. Amnesty Int’l USA, 568 U.S. 398, 402 (2013). 

When a CCRC violates § 1792.6, residents have suffered “actual” 

harm because both “the challenged conduct” (the failure to maintain a 

refund reserve) and “the attendant injury” (the increase in risk that the 

CCRC will default and attendant impairment to the residents’ peace of 

mind) have already occurred.  See Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 1118; Van Patten, 

847 F.3d at 1043.  They are not “conjectural or hypothetical.”  Residents 

suffer both those harms now.  Cf. Spokeo I, 136 S. Ct. at 1548 (quoting 

Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 560). 

The district court’s observation that CC-Palo Alto has yet to default 

on any refund obligation (1 ER 53) misses the point.  Where a legislature 
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has created a substantive or procedural right as prophylaxis against a risk of 

some harm, a plaintiff need not show that that harm has materialized.  

Spokeo II, 867 F.3d at 1113, 1118.  He or she need only show that the 

invasion of that right caused him or her some concrete injury.  Id. at 1117.  

Thus, in Spokeo II, Robins did not need to show that he had actually lost a 

job opportunity because Spokeo had published false information about him.  

He needed only show that Spokeo had published the information and that 

he had suffered a real risk of harm to his employment prospects and various 

emotional harms.  Id. at 1117-18.  Similarly here, because residents suffer 

the concrete harms discussed above, violation of § 1792.6 constitutes actual 

harm. 

II. THE DISTRICT COURT’S DECISION HAS BROADER 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS FOR ELDERS 

In addition to undermining protections Amici have fought hard to 

enact, the district court’s standing analysis threatens to potentially wipe out 

other statutory protections for the individuals Amici represent.  In specific, 

ERISA has a minimum-funding requirement that, like § 1792.6, was 

enacted to create financial security for an individual’s retirement savings.  

See, e.g., Lockheed Corp. v. Spink, 517 U.S. 882, 887 (1996) (quoting 

Nachman Corp. v. Pension Benefit Guaranty Corp., 446 U.S. 359, 375 

(1980)) (noting that the purpose of ERISA’s minimum-funding requirement 
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is to “‘make as certain as possible that pension fund assets [will] be 

adequate’ to meet expected benefits payments” and “[t]o increase the 

chances that employers will be able to honor their benefits commitments—

that is, to guard against the possibility of bankrupt pension funds …”).  For 

the reasons above, Article III does not, and was not intended to, prevent 

individuals from asserting their statutory rights to protect their real, 

concrete interest in avoiding financial risk. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the district court should 

be reversed. 

Dated: July 26, 2019 Respectfully Submitted,  

 BRAUNHAGEY & BORDEN LLP 

 
 By:  /s Matthew Borden     
          Matthew Borden                          

 
Attorneys for CANHR and 
CALCRA 
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES 

Pursuant to Ninth Circuit Rule 28-2.6, the undersigned counsel is 

unaware of any related cases pending in this Court. 

Dated: July 26, 2019 Respectfully Submitted,  

 BRAUNHAGEY & BORDEN LLP 

 
 By:  /s Matthew Borden     
          Matthew Borden                          

 
Attorneys for CANHR and 
CALCRA 
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